STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

JENNIFER BUHL,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V

CITY OF OAK PARK,

Defendants-Appellees.

Michigan Supreme Court
Docket No. 160355

Court of Appeals
Docket No. 340359

Oakland Circuit Court
Case No. 2017-157097-NI

Christopher J. Schneider (P74457)
Stephen J. van Stempvoort (P79828)
MILLER JOHNSON
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant
45 Ottawa Avenue, SW – Suite 1100
Grand Rapids, MI 49503
616.831.1700
schneiderc@millerjohnson.com
vanstempvoorts@millerjohnson.com

John J. Gillooly (P41948)
Christian C. Huffman (P66238)
GARAN LUCOW MILLER, P.C.
Attorneys for Appellee
1155 Brewery Park Blvd., Suite 200
Detroit, MI 48207
(313) 446-5501
jgillooly@garanlucow.com

Jurisdictional Statement

Jennifer Buhl appeals the Court of Appeals' published opinion of August 29, 2019, in Court of Appeals Docket No. 340359. (App. 174a). That opinion affirmed the Oakland County Circuit Court's September 6, 2017, order granting Defendant City of Oak Park's Renewed Motion to Dismiss and dismissing Ms. Buhl's claims with prejudice. (App. 172a). This Court has jurisdiction under MCL § 600.215(3) and MCR 7.303(B)(1).

Statement of Questions Presented

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a(5), see 2016 PA 419, applies retroactively.

Plaintiff-Appellant answers: Yes.

Defendant-Appellee answers: No.

The trial court answered: No.

The Court of Appeals answered: No.

- II. Whether 2016 PA 419 “attaches a new disability with respect to transactions or considerations already past,” *In re Certified Questions from US Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit*, 416 Mich 558, 571 (1982).

Plaintiff-Appellant answers: Yes.

Defendant-Appellee answers: No.

The trial court answered: No.

The Court of Appeals answered: No.

- III. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in creating and applying a “*Brewer* restoration rule,” in determining that 2016 PA 419 applies retroactively, see *Brewer v A D Transp Express, Inc*, 486 Mich 50 (2010).

Plaintiff-Appellant answers: Yes.

Defendant-Appellee answers: Unknown.

The trial court answered: n/a.

The Court of Appeals answered: No.

- IV. Whether it makes a difference to the question of retroactivity in this case that the amendment was enacted before plaintiff filed her complaint when the amended statute states, “In a civil action, a municipal corporation . . . may assert . . . a defense that the condition was open and obvious.” MCL § 691.1402a(5).

Plaintiff-Appellant answers: No.

Defendant-Appellee answers: Unknown.

The trial court answered: n/a.

The Court of Appeals answered: n/a.

Introduction

Unlike a judicial decision issued by this Court, a statutory amendment enacted by the Legislature is presumed to apply prospectively, not retroactively. This presumption is so strong that it holds true even if the statutory amendment was enacted to overrule this Court's interpretation of the law. *Brewer v AD Transp Exp, Inc*, 486 Mich 50, 55–56; 782 NW2d 475 (2010).

The question in this case is whether the Legislature's January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a(5) applies retroactively. Consistent with the long-standing presumption that statutory amendments apply only prospectively, not retroactively, a unanimous panel of the Court of Appeals held in May 2019 that the January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a(5) does not apply retroactively because "there is no evidence that the Legislature intended the amendment to be retroactively applied." *Schilling v City of Lincoln Park*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued May 16, 2019 (Docket No. 342448), p 5 (App. 220a). The analysis in *Schilling* is correct. All of the applicable factors—including the lack of any statutory language indicating that the statute should be applied retroactively—cut against retroactive application.

In Ms. Buhl's case, however, the Court of Appeals rejected *Schilling* and held exactly the opposite; namely, that the January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a(5) applies retroactively, due to what the majority opinion termed "[t]he *Brewer* restoration rule." (App. 184a, 189a n9). According to the majority, this "restoration rule" comes from this Court's decision in *Brewer* and provides that a statutory amendment is retroactive if it (1) "overrule[s] a prior judicial decision" interpreting the statute; and (2) "return[s] the state of the law to the pre-decision status quo." (App. 187a).

But this Court in *Brewer* held exactly the opposite. *Brewer* specifically reiterated the time-honored principle that, “[e]ven if the Legislature acts to invalidate a prior decision of this Court, the amendment is limited to prospective application if it enacts a substantive change in the law.” *Brewer*, 486 Mich at 56 (quoting *Hurd v Ford Motor Co*, 423 Mich 531, 533; 377 NW2d 300 (1985)). The actual holding of *Brewer*—which rejected retroactive application of the statute before it—is the opposite of what the majority concluded here.

There is no support for the Court of Appeals’ so-called “restoration rule.” This Court’s precedent—both before and after *Brewer*—holds that statutory amendments that substantively change the law apply prospectively, even if the amendment is directed at invalidating one of this Court’s decisions and/or “restoring” prior law. See, e.g., *Johnson v Pastoriza*, 491 Mich 417, 430; 818 NW2d 279 (2012); *Hurd*, 423 Mich at 533. Contrary to this Court’s precedent, the Court of Appeals’ newly minted “restoration rule” inverts the well-established presumption of prospective application of a statutory amendment. Under the Court of Appeals’ analysis, a statutory amendment is retroactive even if the amendment does not explicitly say that it is retroactive, as long as the Legislature was responding to this Court’s jurisprudence. But this Court has always employed the opposite presumption—that is, a presumption of prospective application, even where “the Legislature acts to invalidate a prior decision of this Court.” *Johnson*, 491 Mich at 430.

The Court of Appeals’ newfound rule is also unworkable. Even the majority opinion in this case does not clearly articulate the circumstances under which the Legislature “restores” a prior state of affairs, and that inquiry is only going to get more difficult, particularly when statutes are amended multiple times over the years.

As *Schilling* recognized, the well-established factors that drive the retroactivity analysis compel the conclusion that the 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a(5) applies only prospectively, not retroactively. That is why the Court of Appeals in this case resorted to the creation of a new rule—the “*Brewer* restoration rule.” Without creating new law, the Court of Appeals could not justify a holding that the statute applies retroactively. This conclusion was error. Neither *Brewer* nor this Court’s retroactivity jurisprudence provides any basis for the “restoration rule” coined by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals’ holding should be reversed.

Statement of Facts and Proceedings

A. Ms. Buhl trips on a defective sidewalk and injures her ankle.

On May 4, 2016 at approximately 4:30 p.m., Jennifer Buhl’s husband pulled his car up to the curb in front of Trend Express, a party store in Oak Park, Michigan, to allow his wife to exit the car. (App. 3a, 93a). It was raining as Ms. Buhl stepped from the car and made her way toward the store. (App. 94a).

As she approached the store, Ms. Buhl saw a raised crack in the sidewalk and attempted to step over it. (App. 94a, 111a). But she did not see that the concrete was uneven on the other side of the crack. When she stepped over the crack, she stepped off the unseen drop-off and fell. Her left foot “flipped over and it kind of twisted,” ultimately fracturing her left ankle (App. 112a; *see also* App. 121a).

B. After Ms. Buhl’s claim against the City accrued, the Michigan Legislature changes the law, amending MCL 691.1402a to allow municipalities to assert the “open and obvious” defense in defective sidewalk cases.

The City of Oak Park (the “City”) has a statutory obligation to maintain its sidewalks in reasonable repair. See MCL § 691.1402a(1). Since at least 1995, Michigan courts have held that a municipal corporation could not assert an open and obvious defense to a

defective sidewalk claim under MCL § 691.1402a. See *Walker v City of Flint*, 213 Mich App 18, 23; 539 NW2d 535 (1995). This was because liability under that statute involves the violation of a statutory duty and is therefore not susceptible to common-law defenses. See *Jones v Enertel, Inc*, 467 Mich 266, 270; 650 NW2d 334 (2002) (“[T]he open and obvious doctrine is inapplicable to a claim that a municipality has violated its duty to maintain . . . a sidewalk on a highway.”).

But on January 3, 2017, nearly eight months after Ms. Buhl’s claim against the City accrued, the Michigan Legislature passed Public Act 419 of 2016. (App. 203a). Public Act 419 changed the law, amending MCL § 691.1402a to allow a municipal corporation to assert “any defense available under the common law with respect to a premises liability claim, including, but not limited to, a defense that the condition was open and obvious.” MCL § 691.1402a(5). The amendment took effect the next day, on January 4, 2017. (App. 203a). The language of the amendment contains no statement that it would apply retroactively. (App. 203-04a).

C. Ms. Buhl sues the City.

Ms. Buhl sued the City on January 31, 2017 in Oakland County Circuit Court. (App. 5a). Almost immediately, the City moved for summary disposition, arguing that the sidewalk’s defective condition was open and obvious. Because the prior version of MCL § 691.1402a allowed no open and obvious defense, the City could only raise that defense if the January 2017 amendment applied retroactively to Ms. Buhl’s incident. The trial court denied the City’s motion without prejudice, pending Ms. Buhl’s deposition. (App. 15a-16a).

On July 10, 2017, the City renewed its motion for summary disposition. The trial court heard that motion on August 23, 2017, and it granted the City’s motion on September 6, 2017. (App. 172a-173a). At the hearing and in its order, the trial court held that: (1) the January

2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a applies retroactively to Ms. Buhl's incident; (2) as a result, the City can assert an open and obvious defense; and (3) the alleged defect was open and obvious as a matter of law. (App. 172a-173a).

D. The Court of Appeals affirms the trial court's decision, despite the prior decision in *Schilling*.

Ms. Buhl timely appealed the trial court's order. On May 16, 2019, while Ms. Buhl's appeal was pending, the Court of Appeals decided *Schilling*. There, the panel unanimously held that "the amended version of MCL 691.1402a(5) does not apply to this case because plaintiff's cause of action accrued before the amendment took effect and there is no evidence that the Legislature intended the amendment to be retroactively applied." *Schilling*, unpub op at 5.

The Court of Appeals rendered its decision in Ms. Buhl's appeal only a few months later. But instead of agreeing with the unanimous decision in *Schilling*, the majority opinion rejected *Schilling* on the basis of a new rule that the majority divined from *Brewer*. According to the majority, *Brewer* enshrined a two-prong "restoration rule" (App. 184a), under which a statutory amendment is retroactive if it (1) "overrule[s] a prior judicial decision" interpreting the statute; and (2) "return[s] the state of the law to the pre-decision status quo." (App. 187a).

According to the majority, the January 2017 amendment returned the law to the status quo that existed before the judiciary ruled that MCL § 691.1402a does not allow a municipality to assert an open and obvious defense. The majority opinion held that the amendment "demonstrates what [the Legislature] intended the law to be all along" and that therefore "the new legislation does not enact a substantive change in the law." (App. 188a). The

majority opinion concluded that, under the new rule that it fashioned from *Brewer*, the 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a applies retroactively. (App. 174a).

Judge Leticia dissented, observing that no statutory language suggests that the January 2017 amendment should be applied retroactively; that *Brewer* does not contain a “restoration rule;” and that the *Schilling* panel correctly ruled that the amendment applies prospectively, consistent with the presumption in favor of prospective application. (App. 193a).

E. This Court grants Ms. Buhl’s application for leave to appeal.

Ms. Buhl timely applied to this Court for leave to appeal. The Court granted Ms. Buhl’s application and directed the parties to brief four questions:

- 1) whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the January 2017 amendment to MCL 691.1402a(5), see 2016 PA 419, applies retroactively;
- 2) whether 2016 PA 419 “attaches a new disability with respect to transactions or considerations already past,” *In re Certified Questions from US Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit*, 416 Mich 558, 571 (1982);
- 3) whether the Court of Appeals erred in creating and applying a “*Brewer* restoration rule,” in determining that 2016 PA 419 applies retroactively, see *Brewer v A D Transp Express, Inc*, 486 Mich 50 (2010); and
- 4) whether it makes a difference that the amendment was enacted before plaintiff filed her complaint when the amended statute states, “In a civil action, a municipal corporation . . . may assert . . . a defense that the condition was open and obvious.” MCL 691.1402a(5).

Standard of Review

This Court reviews de novo a trial court’s decision on a motion for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10). See *Maiden v Rozwood*, 461 Mich 109, 118; 597 NW2d 817 (1999). The question whether a statutory amendment applies retroactively is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. *Brewer*, 486 Mich at 53.

Argument

I. The Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a(5) applies retroactively.

A. This Court has adopted a presumption that legislative amendments apply only prospectively, not retroactively.

The Legislature’s intent determines whether a statute applies prospectively or retroactively. *Johnson*, 491 Mich at 429. Because of the potential unfairness of applying a statute retroactively, “[s]tatutes are presumed to apply prospectively unless the Legislature clearly manifests the intent for retroactive application.” *Id.* “The Legislature’s expression of an intent to have a statute apply retroactively must be clear, direct, and unequivocal as appears from the context of the statute itself.” *Davis v State Employees’ Ret Bd*, 272 Mich App 151, 155–156; 725 NW2d 56 (2006).

To determine whether a law has retroactive effect, this Court “keep[s] four principles in mind.” *LaFontaine Saline, Inc v Chrysler Grp, LLC*, 496 Mich 26, 38; 852 NW2d 78 (2014). They are:

First, we consider whether there is specific language providing for retroactive application. Second, in some situations, a statute is not regarded as operating retroactively merely because it relates to an antecedent event. Third, in determining retroactivity, we must keep in mind that retroactive laws impair vested rights acquired under existing laws or create new obligations or duties with respect to transactions or considerations already past. Finally, a remedial or procedural act not affecting vested rights may be given retroactive effect where the injury or claim is antecedent to the enactment of the statute.

Id. at 38-39. These four principles are merely factors; meeting any one of them does not necessarily mean that the presumption against retroactivity has been overcome. *Id.*

These factors demonstrate that the strong presumption against retroactive statutory amendments is born from a desire not to inequitably disturb causes of action that have

already accrued. This desire and resulting presumption are so strong that the presumption holds true even when the Legislature expressly enacts a substantive change in the law in order to overrule a decision of this Court. “Even if the Legislature acts to invalidate a prior decision of this Court, the amendment is limited to prospective application if it enacts a substantive change in the law.” *Brewer*, 486 Mich at 56 (quoting *Hurd*, 423 Mich at 533).

Importantly, the presumption against the retroactivity of legislative amendments is the opposite of the presumption that applies to the retroactivity of judicial decisions. Judicial decisions are presumptively retroactive and are limited to prospective application only in unusual circumstances. *Rowland v Washtenaw Cty Rd Comm’n*, 477 Mich 197, 220; 731 NW2d 41, 55 (2007). The presumption for legislative amendments, on the other hand, is precisely the opposite: they are presumed to be prospective, unless the Legislature clearly expresses its intent for retroactive application. *Johnson*, 491 Mich at 429; *Davis*, 272 Mich App at 155–156.

II. Under the *LaFontaine* factors, the 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a is clearly not retroactive.

As recognized in *Schilling* and the dissent in this case, the *LaFontaine* factors clearly establish that the January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a applies only prospectively, not retroactively. (App. 217a). This is especially true given the requirement that “[t]he Legislature’s expression of an intent to have a statute apply retroactively must be clear, direct, and unequivocal as appears from the context of the statute itself.” *Davis*, 272 Mich App at 155–156.

A. Factor One: The statutory language favors prospective-only application.

The first factor—statutory language—is the most important, as the Legislature speaks most clearly through the language that it uses. “[T]he Legislature has shown on several occasions that it knows how to make clear its intention that a statute apply retroactively.” *Davis*,

272 Mich App at 156. See also *Johnson*, 491 Mich at 431–432 (noting examples of other statutes that the Legislature explicitly made retroactive); *Frank W Lynch & Co v Flex Techs, Inc*, 463 Mich 578, 583; 624 NW2d 180 (2001) (noting additional examples); *Moeller v Am Media, Inc*, 235 F Supp 3d 868, 874–875 (ED Mich, 2017) (noting additional examples).

Thus, it is “most instructive” if “the Legislature included no express language regarding retroactivity,” because the absence of such language strongly indicates that the Legislature, despite knowing how to make a statute retroactive, chose not to do so. *Davis*, 272 Mich App at 156.

Here, the January 2017 amendment does not contain any language indicating that it applies retroactively. (App. 203a). The amendment provides a specific, future effective date, January 4, 2017. (App. 203a). “[P]roviding a specific, future effective date and omitting any reference to retroactivity supports a conclusion that a statute should be applied prospectively only.” *Johnson*, 491 Mich at 432 (quotation marks and citation omitted). Additionally, “[u]se of the phrase ‘immediate effect’ does not at all suggest that a public act applies retroactively.” *Id.* at 430. Instead, this phrase, too, supports prospective-only application. *Id.*

This first *LaFontaine* factor therefore overwhelmingly supports prospective-only application. See *Schilling*, unpub op at 7. See also *Sufi v City of Detroit*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued February 17, 2015 (Docket No. 312053), p 4 (holding that a prior amendment to MCL § 691.1402a did not apply retroactively when it gave additional defenses to municipal defendants and had no explicit language regarding retroactivity) (App. 228a-229a). Indeed, even the Court of Appeals’ majority opinion agrees with this conclusion on the first factor. (App. 178a).

B. Factor Two is not applicable.

The second *LaFontaine* factor is not applicable in this case. (App. 178a). See also *Schilling*, unpub op at 8. The amendment at issue does not relate to an antecedent event.

C. Factor Three: Retroactive application would impair substantive rights.

The third *LaFontaine* factor restates the effect of a retroactive statute, noting that statutes cannot be applied retroactively to impair a party's substantive rights. *Davis*, 272 Mich App at 158. In this case, the Court of Appeals ruled that retroactive application would be impermissible only if it affected a plaintiff's "vested rights," and that none of Ms. Buhl's vested rights are affected by the legislature's decision to give municipalities a new, complete affirmative defense against claims like Ms. Buhl's. (App. 178a (ruling that only the abolition of an accrued cause of action "impairs a plaintiff's vested rights")). But this analysis is not accurate, for several reasons.

First, "the presumption against statutory retroactivity is not restricted to actions involving vested rights." *Davis*, 272 Mich App at 158. It also applies where a statute "attaches new disabilities concerning transactions or considerations occurring in the past." *Id.* That is certainly the case here, where the January 2017 amendment to MCL § 691.1402a wreaks a new, fatal blow to Ms. Buhl's claim against the City by allowing the City to assert a complete defense that was unavailable to the City when Ms. Buhl's claim accrued.

Second, limiting the anti-retroactivity principle only to circumstances in which a plaintiff has "vested rights" is inconsistent with this Court's jurisprudence on the issue, as evidenced by the fact that amended statutes of limitations apply prospectively.¹ According to the Court of Appeals, a retroactive statute would impair a plaintiff's vested rights "only if [the

¹ "The question of determining what is a vested right has always been a source of much difficulty to all courts." *Lahti v Fosterling*, 357 Mich 578, 588; 99 NW2d 490 (1959).

amendment] extinguishes [the plaintiff's cause of action] as a matter of law.” (App. 179a). Thus, according to the majority opinion, the addition of an affirmative defense cannot possibly impair a plaintiff's vested rights, because it does not extinguish the plaintiff's cause of action as a matter of law. (App. 178a, 190a).

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