STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

JENNIFER BUHL,

Supreme Court Case No. 160355

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Court of Appeals No. 340359

v.

Oakland County Circuit Court
Case No. 17-157097-NI

CITY OF OAK PARK,

Defendant-Appellee.

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE CITY OF OAK PARK'S APPEAL BRIEF

***** ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED *****

PROOF OF SERVICE

GARAN LUCOW MILLER, P.C.

/s/ Christian C. Huffman

CHRISTIAN C. HUFFMAN (P66238)

JOHN J. GILLOOLY (P41948)

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee

1155 Brewery Park Blvd, Ste. 200

Detroit, MI 48207-2641

Telephone: 313.446.5549

Email:chuffman@garanlucow.com

Dated: August 26, 2020

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

ARGUMENT

A retroactive statutory amendment is "one which takes away or impairs vested rights, creates a new liability, imposes a new duty or attaches a new disability in respect to transactions already past." *Hansen-Snyder Co v Gen Motors Corp*, 371 Mich 480, 484 (1963); *Landgraf v USI Film Products*, 511 US 244, 269; 114 S Ct 1483 (1994). That an amendment falls into one or more of these classes may render the amendment unjust or unfair. *Scott v Smart's Executors*, 1 Mich 295, 302 (1849); *LaFontaine Saline, Inc v Chrysler Group, LLC*, 496 Mich 26, 38; 852 NW2d 78 (2014). But, "there are many laws of a retrospective character which may yet be constitutionally passed by the state legislatures, however unjust, oppressive or impolitic they may be." *Scott, supra*, 1 Mich at 302; *Landgraf, supra*, 511 US at 267. Thus, it is only those retroactive amendments of

the first class – those impairing or taking away vested, constitutionally protected rights - that are impermissible, as “the Legislature has the power under our Constitution to abolish or modify *nonvested*, common-law [and statutory] rights and remedies.” *Phillips, supra*, 470 Mich at 430 (emphasis added); *Landgraf, supra*, 511 US at 267; *Scott*, 1 Mich at 303; *Lahti v Fosterling*, 357 Mich 578, 594; 99 NW2d 490 (1959), *Romein v Gen Motors Corp*, 436 Mich 515, 526, 531; 462 NW2d 555 (1990), *aff’d Gen Motors Corp v Romein*, 503 US 181; 112 S Ct 1105 (1992). Thus, the query of whether a statutory amendment applies retroactively necessarily involves a two-pronged inquiry: (1) whether the Legislature intended for the amendment to apply retroactively, and (2) if so, whether the Legislature possessed the constitutional authority to enact that retroactive intention into law.

I. The Legislature clearly manifested an intention that 2016 PA 419 apply retroactively

As with any exercise of statutory interpretation, the first inquiry necessarily begins by examining the amendment’s language to see if it clearly evinces a legislative intent that the amendment apply retroactively. *LaFontaine, supra*, 496 Mich at 38; *In re Certified Questions from US Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit*, 416 Mich 558, 570; 331 NW2d 456 (1982). Moreover, “courts must look to the facts and circumstances surrounding the adoption of the amendment to determine whether or not the legislature intended it to be retroactive.” *Lahti, supra*, 357 Mich at 589; *Hurd v Ford Motor Co*, 423 Mich 531, 535; 377 NW2d 300 (1985). This factual and circumstantial context is formed by the statutory (as opposed to legislative) history, which includes the pre-amendment version of the statute, any prior amendments to the statute, and the language used by the

Legislature in similar statutes. *Ray v Swager*, 501 Mich 52, 80-81; 903 NW2d 336 (2017); *People v Pinkney*, 501 Mich 259, 276 n 41; 912 NW2d 535 (2018); *Johnson v Pastoriza*, 491 Mich 417, 430-431; 818 NW2d 279 (2012). It also includes any pre-amendment judicial interpretations of the statute because “it is a well-established rule of statutory construction that the Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretations of existing law when passing legislation.” *Ford Motor Co v City of Woodhaven*, 475 Mich 425, 439-440; 716 NW2d 247 (2006), quoting *Pulver v Dundee Cement Co*, 445 Mich 68, 75; 515 NW2d 728 (1994).

If the amendment’s language and its statutory history reveal a clearly manifested legislative intent for the amendment to apply retroactively, a court may not employ the oft-stated dice-loading rule that “statutes are presumed to operate prospectively” *Lynch, supra*, 463 Mich at 583, quoting *Franks v White Pine Copper Division*, 422 Mich 636, 670; 375 NW2d 715 (1985). This is because when the Legislature “has expressly described the statute’s proper reach” there is “of course no need to resort to judicial default rules.” *Landgraf, supra*, 511 US at 280; see also *People v Hall*, 499 Mich 446, 454; 884 NW2d 561 (2016), quoting *Koontz v Ameritech Svcs, Inc*, 466 Mich 304, 319; 645 NW2d 34 (2002)(“If a statute is unambiguous, a court should not apply ‘preferential or ‘dice-loading’ rules of statutory interpretation.”).

1. The language of 2016 PA 419 clearly manifests a legislative intent that 2016 PA 419 apply retroactively

The Legislature stated in 2016 PA 419 that “[i]n a civil action, a municipal corporation . . . may assert . . . a defense that the condition was open and obvious.” By prefacing the availability of the open and obvious defense to a municipality with the

phrase “in a civil action,” the Legislature unambiguously manifested its intention that the municipality’s ability to raise the defense does not depend on when the plaintiff’s cause of action accrued. Rather, the Legislature intended the open and obvious defense to be available to a municipality in *any* civil action involving an alleged sidewalk defect. “‘A’ is an indefinite article, which is often used to mean ‘any.’” *South Dearborn Enviro Improvement Ass’n, Inc, v Dep’t of Enviro Quality*, 502 Mich 349, 368; 917 NW2d 603 (2018), quoting *Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* (11th ed).⁴ And “[a]ny’ means ‘every,’ ‘each one of all.’” *Harrington v Interstate Bus Men’s Ass’n of Des Moines*, 201 Mich 327, 330; 178 NW 19 (1920), quoting *Hopkins v Sanders*, 172 Mich 227, 237; 137 NW 709 (1912).⁵ Thus, by its plain terms, the Legislature intended for 2016 PA 419 to have full retroactive effect, making the open and obvious defense available to municipalities as to civil actions that would be filed after the amendment took effect on January 4, 2017 - such as in the present case - as well as to civil actions that were already pending on January 4, 2017.⁶

⁴ See also *Robinson, supra*, 486 Mich at 26 n 6 (Young, J., concurring); *Allstate Ins Co v Freeman*, 432 Mich 656, 699; 443 NW2d 734 (1989)(opinion by Riley, C.J.); *Husted v Dobbs*, 459 Mich 500, 521; 591 NW2d 642 (1999)(Kelly, J., dissenting).

⁵ See also *South Dearborn, supra*, 502 Mich at 368 n 17, quoting *Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary* (11th ed.) (“[a]ny’ means ‘one, some, or all indiscriminately of whatever quantity[.]’”); *Nat’l Pride At Work, Inc v Gov of Mich*, 481 Mich 56, 77; 748 NW2d 524 (2008), quoting *Random House Webster’s College Dictionary* (1991) (“[a]ny’ means ‘every; all.’”).

⁶ Because it is not at issue here, this writer will not address whether the Legislature intended for 2016 PA 419 to have “full” retroactive effect, thus enabling a municipality

The situation here is akin to that considered by this Court in *Frank's, supra*, 422 Mich 636. Therein, the Legislature amended the Workers' Disability Compensation Act⁷ ["WDCA"] by enacting MCL 418.354. This statute enabled an employer to set off from WDCA benefits other specified benefits received by a disabled employee, such as social security benefits. *Id.* at 644. The Legislature stated in MCL 418.354 that "[t]his section is applicable when . . . payments are made to an employee . . . with respect to the same time period for which [other specified benefits from other sources] are also received or being received by the employee." *Id.* at 650-651. The issue presented to this Court was whether the Legislature intended for employers to be able to apply the set off when paying WDCA benefits to workers whose injuries occurred before MCL 418.354 became effective. This Court held that the plain language of MCL 418.354 clearly manifested that the Legislature so intended, stating:

[T]his statute clearly and unambiguously requires coordination of workers' compensation and other specified benefits for all compensable periods subsequent to its effective date, regardless of when the injury occurred. The statute does not limit its application to cases where workers' compensation payments are made to an employee *for injuries incurred after its effective date, or for injuries incurred after March 31, 1982*. Nor does it contain any language indicating that it should not be applied when payments are being made *for injuries that occurred prior to March 31, 1982*. The Legislature's failure to do so leaves the section generally applicable to payments made after its effective date. In the absence of express language of limitation, "[t]his court cannot write into the statutes provisions that the legislature has not seen fit to enact." *Paselli v Utley*,

against whom a judgment has already been obtained to file a new civil action pursuant to MCR 2.612(C)(3) seeking relief from that judgment.

⁷ MCL 418.101 *et seq.*

286 Mich 638, 643; 282 NW 849 (1938). [*Franks, supra*, 422 Mich at 651 (emphasis in original).]

The same is, or course, true with respect to 2016 PA 419. Had the Legislature intended for the open and obvious defense to be available to municipalities *only* with regard to lawsuits premised upon injuries that occurred after 2016 PA 419 became effective on January 4, 2017, the Legislature would have said so. Nor does 2016 PA 419 contain any language indicating that the open and obvious defense should *not* be available to municipalities defending against lawsuits premised upon injuries that occurred before January 4, 2017. Rather, the Legislature broadly stated that the open and obvious defense is available to a municipality in “a [i.e., any] civil action.” *Frank’s, supra*, 422 Mich at 651.

As this Court went on to explain in *Frank’s*, MCL 418.354 was not truly “retroactive” merely because it applied with regard to injuries that occurred before its effective date:

We also disagree with the board's assumption that application of the coordination of benefits provision of § 354 to workers' compensation payments for compensable periods after the effective date of the statute would constitute retrospective application simply because the liability is based upon an injury that occurred prior thereto. *Hughes v Judges' Retirement Bd*, 407 Mich 75, 86; 282 NW2d 160 (1979). As the board accurately observed at the outset of its opinion, “it is not contended that compensation benefits should be retroactively coordinated or reduced. Rather it is argued that the benefits of *all* disabled workers should be *prospectively* coordinated after the effective date of the enactment *regardless of when they were injured.*”

While § 354 may in some cases involve an antecedent event, such as an injury incurred prior to its effective date, by its clear language it operates only with regard to payments received and attributable to periods after its effective date. “Our [obligation] is to give effect to the plain meaning of the language used.” *Selk [v Detroit Plastics Prods]*, 419 Mich 1, 9; 345

NW2d 184 (1984)]. [*Frank's, supra*, 422 Mich at 652-653 (emphasis in original).]

* * *

As this Court indicated in *Hughes, supra*, 407 Mich [at] 86, “A statute is not regarded as operating retrospectively because it relates to an antecedent event. Merely because some of the requisites for its application are drawn from a time antedating its passage[, a law is not] retrospective.” See also *Selk, supra*[419 Mich at 9.] [*Frank's, supra*, 422 Mich at 669.]

The same is true with respect to 2016 PA 419. Merely because a requisite for its application is drawn from a time antedating its effective date (i.e., the accident upon which the civil action is premised) does not make 2016 PA 419 retroactive. Rather, it operates prospectively with regard to “a civil action” filed on or after January 4, 2017, as well as with regard to “a civil action” that was already pending on January 4, 2017.

2. The retroactive legislative intent clearly manifested in the language of 2016 PA 419 is confirmed by the statutory history of 2016 PA 419

There is nothing about the context of 2016 PA 419, the rest of MCL 691.1402a, or the GTLA as a whole to indicate that the Legislature intended the phrase “in a civil action” to be restricted to only civil actions premised upon sidewalk accidents occurring after January 4, 2017. Quite the contrary, other provisions of the GTLA and the GTLA’s statutory history unequivocally establish that the Legislature did not. Cf. *Johnson, supra*, 491 Mich at 430-431.

i. Other provisions of the GTLA

From the outset the Legislature showed that it knows how to make provisions of the GTLA operate only prospectively when it wants to. Upon enacting the GTLA in 1965 the Legislature stated in MCL 691.1406 that “[n]o action shall be brought [under

the public buildings exception] against any governmental agency, other than a municipal corporation^[8], *except for injury or loss suffered after July 1, 1965.*” (Emphasis added). Similarly the Legislature stated in MCL 691.1413 that “[n]o action shall be brought against [a] governmental agency for injury or property damage arising out of the operation of [a] proprietary function, *except for injury or loss suffered on or after July 1, 1965.*” (Emphasis added). These provisions undoubtedly make clear that the Legislature knows how to make a provision of the GTLA applicable only to injuries suffered after the effective date of that provision when the Legislature wants to.

Moreover, the Legislature stated in MCL 691.1408(2) that “[w]hen a criminal action is commenced against an officer or employee of a governmental agency . . . the governmental agency may pay for, engage, or furnish the services of an attorney to . . . represent the officer or employee in the action.” This sentence grants governmental agencies the discretion to directly retain and pay an attorney to represent an officer or employee in a criminal action. However, in the next sentence, the Legislature stated that “[a]n officer or employee who has incurred legal expenses *after December 31, 1975* . . . may obtain reimbursement for those expenses under this subsection.” This sentence makes reimbursement for an attorney retained and paid by a governmental officer or employee, as opposed to an attorney retained and paid directly by a governmental

⁸ This, of course, was done because this Court had stripped municipalities of their immunity before the GTLA restored such immunity, meaning that municipalities had a common-law duty with regard to public buildings before the GTLA became effective. *Ross v Consumers Power Co (On Rehearing)*, 420 Mich 567, 603-605; 363 NW2d 641 (1984)

agency, prospective only; i.e., obtainable only when an officer or employee “has incurred legal expenses *after December 31, 1975*”. This, again, shows that the Legislature knows how to make a provision of the GTLA operate only prospectively when it wants to.

ii. Previous amendments to the GTLA

Before the Legislature’s enactment of 1999 PA 205, which became effective on December 21, 1999, the obligation of municipalities to maintain sidewalks was governed solely by MCL 691.1402. In 1999 PA 205, the Legislature not only amended MCL 691.1402, but simultaneously created MCL 691.1402a to limit municipal liability for sidewalks installed adjacent to county highways by codifying the two-inch rule, which had been abolished at common-law. *Robinson, supra*, 486 Mich at 17-20. When it did so, the Legislature stated in Enacting Section 1 of 1999 PA 205 that “MCL 691.1401 and 691.1402, as amended by this act, and *section 2a, as added by this amendatory act, apply only to a cause of action arising on or after the effective date of this amendatory act.*” (Defendant’s App. 3b).

It cannot be ignored that the Legislature did not include similar language limiting the phrase “a civil action” when it enacted 2016 PA 419, given that the Legislature had specifically made MCL 691.1402a prospective only when it created MCL 691.1402a via 1999 PA 205. Had the Legislature intended for its amendment to MCL 691.1402a via 2016 PA 419 to have only prospective application, the Legislature would have said so as it did when it created MCL 691.1402a via 1999 PA 205. *Johnson, supra*, at 431-432. This establishes that, in this instance, the Legislature intended for “a” to mean “any,” and not less than “any.”

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